
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SYRACUSE DIVISION   

CNY FAIR HOUSING, INC.; HOUSING 
OPPORTUNITIES MADE EQUAL OF BUFFALO, 
INC.; HOUSING RESEARCH & ADVOCACY 
CENTER, INC., D/B/A FAIR HOUSING CENTER 
FOR RIGHTS & RESEARCH, INC.; FAIR HOUSING 
OPPORTUNITIES OF NORTHWEST OHIO, D/B/A 
THE FAIR HOUSING CENTER; HOUSING 
OPPORTUNITIES MADE EQUAL OF GREATER 
CINCINNATI, INC.; FAIR HOUSING CENTER OF 
CENTRAL INDIANA, INC.; AND THE FAIR 
HOUSING PARTNERSHIP OF GREATER 
PITTSBURGH, INC. 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

CLOVER CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT, INC.; 
CLOVER MANAGEMENT, INC.; CLOVER 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT WEST, INC.;  
WELLCLOVER HOLDINGS LLC;  
CLOVER COMMUNITIES FRIES LLC;  CLOVER 
COMMUNITIES CAMILLUS LLC; WELL 1031 
HOLDCO 1, LLC D/B/A CARLTON HOLLOW 
APARTMENTS;  JILL JOSEPH TOWER LLC D/B/A 
JILL JOSEPH TOWER SENIOR APARTMENTS; 
CLOVER COMMUNITIES LANCASTER LLC;  
CLOVER COMMUNITIES NEW HARTFORD LLC; 
CLOVER COMMUNITIES JOHNSON CITY LLC; 
CLOVER COMMUNITIES SOUTHWESTERN LLC; 
CLOVER COMMUNITIES SWEETHOME LLC; 
MUSSACHIO ARCHITECTS P.C.; AND MARC 
MUSSACHIO   

Defendants. 

Civ. Case No.________________ 

COMPLAINT 

 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

5:22-cv-278 (GTS/ATB)
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs CNY Fair Housing, Inc.; Housing Opportunities Made Equal of Buffalo, 

Inc.; Housing Research & Advocacy Center, Inc., d/b/a Fair Housing Center for Rights & 

Research, Inc.; Fair Housing Opportunities of Northwest Ohio, d/b/a The Fair Housing Center; 

Housing Opportunities Made Equal of Greater Cincinnati, Inc.; Fair Housing Center of Central 

Indiana, Inc.; and the Fair Housing Partnership of Greater Pittsburgh, Inc. (“Plaintiffs”) bring 

this action for declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief for discrimination on the basis of 

disability in violation of the federal Fair Housing Act (“FHA”), 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq., and 

New York Human Rights Law, N.Y. Exec. Law § 296, et seq., against the interrelated 

Defendants that designed or constructed, or own or operate multi-family rental housing 

complexes that do not comply with the FHA’s accessibility requirements. The Defendants are 

Clover Construction Management, Inc., Clover Management, Inc., Clover Construction 

Management West, Inc., WellClover Holdings LLC; Clover Communities Fries LLC,  Clover 

Communities Camillus LLC, Well 1031 Holdco 1, LLC d/b/a Carlton Hollow Apartments,  Jill 

Joseph Tower LLC d/b/a Jill Joseph Tower Senior Apartments, Clover Communities Lancaster 

LLC, Clover Communities New Hartford LLC,  Clover Communities Johnson City LLC, Clover 

Communities Southwestern LLC, Clover Communities Sweethome LLC, (collectively “Clover 

Defendants”), Mussachio Architects P.C. and Marc Mussachio (collectively “Mussachio”).  

2. Plaintiffs have uncovered widespread and flagrant violations of the Fair Housing 

Act’s accessibility requirements at thirty-eight of the Clover Defendants’ properties in Ohio, 

New York, Indiana, and Pennsylvania (“Clover Properties”). The exterior areas of the complexes 

have inaccessible parking spaces, mailboxes, and routes to units and public and common use 

areas. The apartments have inaccessible routes into and out of the units, bathrooms with 
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inaccessible features, and other inaccessible features. The inaccessible aspects of the Clover 

Properties violate the applicable federal and state fair housing laws, pose safety hazards to 

people with disabilities, signal that people with disabilities are not welcome, and limit housing 

opportunities for people with disabilities. The harmful effects of the accessibility violations are 

exacerbated at the Clover Properties because they are advertised as “fully handicapped-

accessible” and as “Senior Apartment Communities” for individuals over the age of 55. 

3. Accessible housing is an essential means of ensuring that people with disabilities 

can find housing and fully participate in community life. More than 30 million Americans aged 

15 years and older have disabilities that require their use of a wheelchair, walker, cane, or 

crutches, or otherwise impair their ability to walk, climb stairs, or engage in other ambulatory 

activities. Approximately 15 million people over the age of 64 – an age group that comprises a 

large proportion of those targeted by the Clover Defendants – have difficulty with ambulatory 

activities. Among those aged 65 and older, roughly two million people use a wheelchair and 

seven million use a cane, crutches, or walker. With an increasing proportion of the American 

population over the age of 65, and with the return to the civilian housing market of tens of 

thousands of veterans with disabilities, the number of persons with disabilities is only likely to 

increase.  

4. To help ensure that people with disabilities have equal housing opportunities, 

Congress amended the Fair Housing Act in 1988 to establish basic architectural requirements for 

the accessible design and construction of residential housing, including most multifamily 

dwellings. The FHA requires builders, architects, owners, and others involved in the design, 

construction, and rental of multi-family housing consisting of four or more units and built for 

first occupancy after March 13, 1991 to design and construct apartment complexes in a manner 
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that ensures that architectural barriers do not impede access or exclude individuals with 

disabilities from residing in or visiting the complexes.  

5. The Clover Properties’ dwelling units and public and common use areas designed, 

developed, and/or owned by one or more Defendants have the same or similar design elements 

that violate the FHA.  

6. Many public and common use areas at the Clover Properties:  

a. Do not have accessible routes to primary entrances of covered dwelling units, 

to unit amenities, and to common areas. For example, routes between common 

and public use areas and from parking areas to units lack accessible curb cuts, 

can be blocked by parked cars, and have access points that discharge persons 

in wheelchairs into traffic;   

b. Lack adequate numbers of accessible parking spaces for residents and visitors 

with disabilities;  

c. Lack adequate numbers of parking spaces to permit designated or reserved 

parking spaces for residents with mobility disabilities; and/or 

d. Have inaccessible mailboxes located outside of the reach ranges for 

wheelchair users.    

7. The interiors of covered multifamily units:  

a. Have inaccessible bathrooms because: 

i. Bathroom sinks lack the required clear floor space or removable cabinets 

necessary to allow a person using a wheelchair to use the sink;  

ii. Bathrooms lack the required clear floor space to allow a person in a 

wheelchair to enter the shower; 
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iii. Upon information and belief, the bathrooms lack reinforcements behind 

the walls for installation of grab bars;  

b. Have inaccessible patios because: 

i. The doors to the patios lack a sufficient opening to allow a person using a 

wheelchair or walker to pass through them; and/or 

ii. The height and slope of the patio doors threshold makes them unusable by 

a wheelchair user.   

8. Defendants’ long-standing and continuing practices and policies of developing, 

constructing, operating, or owning properties that deny people with disabilities full access to and 

use of these covered multifamily dwellings and common areas, as described herein, discriminate 

against people with disabilities in violation of the relevant federal and state fair housing laws: the 

FHA, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq.; and New York Human Rights Law, N.Y. Exec. Law § 296, et 

seq. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 

1367, and 2201; and 42 U.S.C. § 3613. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ 

state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  

10. Venue is proper in this District and Division under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred within this 

District and Division. 
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PARTIES AND PROPERTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

11. Plaintiff CNY Fair Housing, Inc. (“CNY Fair Housing”) is a private, nonprofit 

corporation organized under the laws of New York and registered to do business in New York. 

Its principal place of business is Syracuse, New York. CNY Fair Housing’s mission is to ensure 

fair housing opportunity for all people in Central and Northern New York. Through education, 

research, advocacy, and enforcement, CNY Fair Housing works to eliminate housing 

discrimination and promote open communities. One of CNY Fair Housing’s goals is to combat 

discrimination based on disability and to enable individuals to select and live successfully in 

their housing of choice without fear of discrimination because of their disabilities. 

12. Plaintiff Housing Opportunities Made Equal of Buffalo, Inc. (“HOME of 

Buffalo”) was founded in 1963 and is a nonprofit fair housing organization doing business in 

Buffalo, New York.  HOME of Buffalo’s activities, purpose, and mission include promoting the 

value of diversity and ensuring all people, including people with disabilities, an equal 

opportunity to live in the housing and communities of their choice by providing community 

education about fair housing; providing technical assistance to government officials, service 

agencies, and housing providers; providing information about fair housing laws for tenants, 

landlords, home seekers, home buyers and sellers, and real estate professionals; providing 

housing and human service information and referral; providing fair housing enforcement services 

to persons who have encountered housing discrimination; and operating a housing and mobility 

counseling program designed to help families and individuals obtain safe, quality, affordable 

housing in well-resourced neighborhoods. 
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13. Plaintiff Housing Research & Advocacy Center, Inc., d/b/a the Fair Housing 

Center for Rights & Research, Inc. (“FHCRR”), founded in 1983, is a nonprofit fair housing and 

civil rights organization with its principal place of business in Cleveland, Ohio. FHCRR’s 

mission is to protect and expand fair housing rights, eliminate housing discrimination, and 

promote integrated communities. Through research, educational programs, public policy, and 

enforcement activities, FHCRR seeks to ensure that all residents are guaranteed equal access to 

housing without discrimination, including discrimination based on disability.  

14. Plaintiff Housing Opportunities Made Equal of Greater Cincinnati, Inc. (“HOME 

of Cincinnati”), founded in 1968 and doing business in Cincinnati, Ohio, is a nonprofit 

organization whose mission is to eliminate unlawful discrimination in housing in the Greater 

Cincinnati area. This mission is based on the belief that housing is the hub of opportunity and the 

gateway to a better life. HOME of Cincinnati advocates for and enforces housing regulations for 

all protected classes, including people with disabilities, and promotes stable, integrated 

communities.  

15. Plaintiff Fair Housing Opportunities of Northwest Ohio, d/b/a The Fair Housing 

Center (“The Fair Housing Center”) is a nonprofit organization founded in 1975. It is organized 

under the laws of the state of Ohio and its principal place of business is in Toledo, Ohio. It is 

dedicated to the elimination of housing discrimination, including discrimination based on 

disability, the promotion of housing choice, and the creation of inclusive communities of 

opportunity in the Toledo area.    

16. Plaintiff Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana (“FHCCI”) is a private, nonprofit 

organization incorporated in 2011 with its principal place of business in Indianapolis, Indiana.  

FHCCI’s mission is to ensure equal housing opportunities by eliminating housing discrimination 
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through advocacy, enforcement, education, and outreach. FHCCI works to eliminate housing 

discrimination and to ensure equal opportunity for all people, including people with disabilities, 

through the advancement of more inclusive and welcoming communities. 

17. Plaintiff The Fair Housing Partnership of Greater Pittsburgh, Inc. (“Fair Housing 

Partnership”) has its principal place of business in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Fair Housing 

Partnership, founded in 1984, is a nonprofit organization organized under the laws of 

Pennsylvania dedicated to creating and preserving equal housing choice in southwestern 

Pennsylvania. The organization advocates for fair housing, enforces fair housing laws, provides 

fair housing education and outreach to the community, and gives fair housing training to housing 

providers and government officials. The organization maintains a mission of ensuring equal 

housing choice for all persons, including people with disabilities, through education, fair housing 

analysis, enforcement actions, outreach, and community organizing. 

B.   Defendants 

18. Defendant Clover Construction Management, Inc. is a for-profit corporation 

organized under the laws of the state of New York, with its principal offices based in the state of 

New York. It has participated in the design and construction of Clover Properties named herein, 

as well as other “Clover Group” multi-family residential properties targeted at seniors. In 

addition, Clover Construction Management, Inc. developed or owned at least two Clover 

Properties named here: Olmsted Falls Senior Apartments and Camillus Pointe Senior 

Apartments. 

19. Defendant Clover Construction Management West, Inc. is a for-profit corporation 

organized under the laws of the state of Delaware, with its principal offices in Williamsville, 
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New York.  It has participated in the design and construction of Clover Properties named herein, 

as well as other “Clover Group” multi-family residential properties targeted at seniors. 

20. Defendant Clover Management, Inc. is a real estate development and property 

management company organized under the laws of the state of Delaware, with its principal 

offices in Williamsville, New York. It owns and/or operates Clover Properties named herein, as 

well as other “Clover Group” multi-family residential properties targeted at seniors. In addition, 

on information and belief, Clover Management, Inc. developed and owned at least one of the 

Clover Properties named here: Sheldon Square Senior Apartments. 

21. Defendant Clover Communities Fries LLC is organized and has its principal place 

of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named here: Brighton 

Square Senior Apartments in New York.  

22. Defendant Clover Communities Camillus LLC is organized and has its principal 

place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named here: 

Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments in New York.  

23. Defendant Well 1031 Holdco 1, LLC d/b/a Carlton Hollow Apartments is 

organized in Delaware and does business in New York as the owner of one of the Clover 

Properties named here: Carlton Hollow Senior Apartments in New York.  

24. Defendant Jill Joseph Tower LLC d/b/a Jill Joseph Tower Senior Apartments, is 

organized and has its principal place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the 

Clover Properties named here: Jill Joseph Tower Senior Apartments in New York.  

25. Defendant Clover Communities Lancaster, LLC is organized and has its principal 

place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named here: 

Lancaster Commons Senior Apartments in New York.  
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26. Defendant Clover Communities New Hartford LLC is organized and has its 

principal place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named 

here: New Hartford Square Senior Apartments in New York.   

27. Defendant WellClover Holdings LLC is organized in Delaware and does business 

in New York as the owner and operator of the Clover Properties named here: Orchard Place 

Senior Apartments, Transit Pointe Senior Apartments. Seneca Point Senior Apartments, 

Crestmount Square Senior Apartments, Sandra Lane Senior Apartments, Union Square Senior 

Apartments, Morgan Square Senior Apartments, and Buckley Square Senior Apartments, all in 

New York.     

28. Defendant Clover Communities Johnson City LLC is organized and has its 

principal place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named 

here: Reynolds Pointe Senior Apartments in New York.  

29. Defendant Clover Communities Southwestern LLC is organized and has its 

principal place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named 

here: South Pointe Senior Apartments in New York.  

30. Defendant Clover Communities Sweethome LLC is organized and has its 

principal place of business in New York, and is the owner of one of the Clover Properties named 

here: Sweet Home Senior Apartments in New York.  

31. Defendant Mussachio Architects P.C. is a domestic professional corporation, 

organized under the laws of the state of New York, with its principal office in Williamsville, 

New York. It designed and drew the plans for at least twenty-four of the Clover Properties 
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named here,1 as well as other multi-family residential properties targeted at seniors that have 

been developed and managed by the Clover Defendants.  

32. Defendant Marc Mussachio is an architect licensed in New York and other states.  

He is the partner in charge of production at Mussachio Architects P.C. His principal place of 

business is in Williamsville, New York. On information and belief, Marc Mussachio approved 

the plans for some or all of the properties designed and drawn by Mussachio Architects P.C. 

33. In acting or omitting to act as alleged herein, each Defendant was acting through 

its employees, officers, and/or agents and is liable on the basis of the acts and omissions of its 

employees, officers, and/or agents. 

34. In acting or omitting to act as alleged herein, each employee, officer, or agent of 

each Defendant was acting in the course and scope of his or her actual or apparent authority 

pursuant to such agencies, or the alleged acts or omissions of each employee or officer as agent 

were subsequently ratified and adopted by one or more Defendants as principal. 

C. Properties 

35. The thirty-eight Clover Properties at issue in this complaint with failures to 

comply with the FHA’s accessibility requirements are:  

New York Properties 

36. Brighton Square Senior Apartments at 300 Fries Rd, Tonawanda, NY.  

37. Buckley Square Senior Apartments at 6715 Buckley Rd, Syracuse, NY.  

 
1 Those Properties are: Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments, Morgan Square Senior Apartments, Reynolds Pointe 
Senior Apartments, Seneca Pointe Senior Apartments, Sweet Home Senior Apartments, Gardens on Gateway Senior 
Apartments, Pleasant Run Senior Apartments, Wynbrooke Senior Apartments, Eden Park Senior Apartments, 
Fairfield Village Senior Apartments, Ivy Pointe Senior Apartments, Kings Pointe Senior Apartments, Lorain Pointe 
Senior Apartments, Olmstead Fall Senior Apartments, Parma Village Senior Apartments, Sheldon Square Senior 
Apartments, Simmons Crossing Senior Apartments, Southpark Square Senior Apartments, Beaver Run Senior 
Apartments, Bethel Square Senior Apartments, Cedar Ridge Senior Apartments, Green Ridge Senior Apartments, 
Lafayette Square Senior Apartments, Oak Hill Senior Apartments, and Town Square Senior Apartments.   
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38. Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments at 3877 Milton Ave, Camillus, NY.  

39. Carlton Hollow Senior Apartments at 2000 Carlton Way, Ballston Spa, NY. 

40. Crestmount Square Senior Apartments at 285 Crestmount Ave, Tonawanda, NY. 

41. Jill Joseph Tower Senior Apartments at 66 Custer Street, Buffalo, NY.  

42. Lancaster Commons Senior Apartments at 18 Pavement Rd, Lancaster, NY. 

43. Morgan Square Senior Apartments at 8547 Morgan Rd, Clay, NY 

44. New Hartford Square Senior Apartments at 4770 Middle Settlement Rd,  

Whitesboro, NY.   

45. Orchard Place Senior Apartments at 133 Orchard Pl, Lackawanna, NY.   

46. Reynolds Pointe Senior Apartments at 1035 Anna Maria Dr, Johnson City, NY. 

47. Sandra Lane Senior Apartments at 705 Sandra Ln, North Tonawanda, NY. 

48. Seneca Pointe Senior Apartments at 1187 Orchard Park Rd, West Seneca, NY. 

49. South Pointe Senior Apartments at 4600 Southwestern Blvd, Hamburg, NY. 

50. Sweet Home Senior Apartments at 1880 Sweet Home Rd, Amherst, NY.   

51. Transit Pointe Senior Apartments at 8040 Roll Rd, East Amherst, NY.   

52. Union Square Senior Apartments at 2341 Union Rd, West Seneca, NY. 

Ohio Properties 

53. Eden Park Senior Apartments at 1740 Eden Park Drive, Hamilton, OH 

54. Fairfield Village Senior Apartments at 520 Patterson Blvd, Fairfield, OH. 

55. Ivy Pointe Senior Apartments at 732 Clough Pike, Cincinnati, OH. 

56. Kings Pointe Senior Apartments at 4120 King Rd, Sylvania, OH. 

57. Lorain Pointe Senior Apartments at 5401 North Pointe Pkwy, Lorain, OH. 

58. Olmsted Falls Senior Apartments at 9299 Columbia Rd, Olmsted Falls, OH.  
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59. Parma Village Senior Apartments at 11500 Huffman Rd, Parma, OH.  

60. Sheldon Square Senior Apartments at 125 Sheldon Rd, Berea, OH.  

61. Simmons Crossing Senior Apartments at 27480 Simmons Rd, Rossford, OH. 

62. Southpark Square Senior Apartments at 15101 Howe Rd, Strongsville, OH. 

Pennsylvania Properties 

63. Beaver Run Senior Apartments at 1195 Western Ave, Brighton Township, PA. 

64. Bethel Square Senior Apartments at 631 McMurray Rd, Bethel Park, PA. 

65. Cedar Ridge Senior Apartments at 319 Cedar Ridge Drive, Crafton, PA. 

66. Green Ridge Senior Apartments at 1651 Dickson Ave, Scranton, PA.  

67. Harbor Creek Senior Apartments at 4400 East Lake Rd, Erie, PA.  

68. Lafayette Square Senior Apartments at 7420 Steubenville Pike, Oakdale, PA.  

69. Oak Hill Senior Apartments at 512 Oak Street, Taylor, PA.  

70. Towne Square Senior Apartments at 1043 Towne Square Drive, Greensburg, PA. 

Indiana Properties 

71. Gardens on Gateway Senior Apartments at 7357 N. Gateway Crossing Blvd,  

McCordsville, IN.  

72. Pleasant Run Senior Apartments at 4701 Todd Rd, Indianapolis, IN.  

73. Wynbrooke Senior Apartments at 10318 E. County Rd 200 N, Indianapolis, IN. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

74. Congress enacted the FHA’s design and construction accessibility requirements as 

part of a comprehensive revision of the FHA to prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability. 

The debates and legislative history regarding the accessibility requirements reflect Congressional 

findings that a person using a wheelchair or other mobility aid is just as effectively excluded 
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from the opportunity to live in a particular dwelling by steps or thresholds at building or unit 

entrances and by too narrow doorways as by a posted sign saying, “No Handicapped People 

Allowed.” In considering the FHA’s accessibility requirements, Congress stressed that 

enforcement of the law is necessary to protect people with disabilities from the “devastating” 

impact of housing discrimination, including the “architectural barriers” erected by developers 

who fail to construct dwellings and public accommodations accessible to and adaptable by 

people with disabilities. H.R. REP. No. 100-711, at 25 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 

2173, 2186. 

75. In response to Congressional findings, the FHA mandated that every multi-family 

building containing four or more dwelling units and built for first occupancy after March 13, 

1991 (“covered multifamily dwellings”) be subject to certain design and construction 

requirements. All ground floor units in buildings without elevators and all units in buildings with 

elevators must include:   

a. Public and common use areas that are readily accessible to, and usable by, people 

with disabilities; 

b. Doors into and within covered units that are sufficiently wide to allow passage by 

people in wheelchairs; 

c. An accessible route into, through, and out of the dwelling; 

d. Light switches, electrical outlets, thermostats, and other environmental controls in 

accessible locations;  

e. Reinforcements in bathroom walls that allow for the later installation of grab bars; 

and  
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f. Accessible kitchens and bathrooms designed to allow an individual in a wheelchair to      

maneuver about the space. 

76. Pursuant to Congressional authority, the United States Department of Housing 

and Urban Development (“HUD”) promulgated final FHA design and construction regulations in 

January 1989, see 24 C.F.R. § 100.205 (2008). HUD also published the final Fair Housing Act 

Accessibility Guidelines on March 6, 1991, which incorporate the American National Standards 

Institute’s standards for providing accessibility and usability for physically handicapped people 

in buildings and facilities, A117-1-1986, see 56 Fed. Reg. 9473 (Mar. 6, 1991), and the Fair 

Housing Act Design Manual in August 1996, which was revised in August 1998. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

77. The Clover Defendants have purchased or developed and currently manage over 

6,000 apartment units in large apartment complexes throughout six states. Many of those 

complexes are specifically designated for seniors over the age of 55 and are advertised as “fully 

handicapped-accessible.” 

78. The Clover Properties at issue here were designed and constructed for first 

occupancy after March 13, 1991. Each Property consists of one or more buildings with at least 

four dwelling units. Each building has an elevator. Accordingly, each unit in each building is a 

“covered multifamily dwelling” and subject to the accessibility requirements of the FHA. The 

public and common use areas of each property are also subject to the FHA’s accessibility 

requirements. 

79. Multiple existing features at the Clover Properties do not comply with the FHA or 

HUD’s Fair Housing Act Accessibility Guidelines or any other accessibility standards accepted 

as consistent with the FHA’s accessibility requirements.  
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80. Most of the violations are also inconsistent with and less accessible than 

applicable state standards and requirements. Furthermore, compliance with state code provisions 

does not suffice for compliance with the FHA’s accessibility requirements.  

81. Plaintiffs have investigated the Clover Properties named herein, including by 

visiting the properties to evaluate accessibility issues, taking photographs of exterior elements of 

the property, examining accessible and designated parking issues, testing for discriminatory 

practices, interviewing residents, reviewing online photographs showing the interior and exterior 

of units, and reviewing building plans, photographs, occupancy permits, and ownership data. 

Through their investigations, Plaintiffs uncovered numerous violations of the FHA’s 

accessibility requirements. Plaintiffs are also aware of other properties designed, constructed, 

owned, and operated by Clover Defendants in areas outside of Plaintiffs’ service areas that also 

contain accessibility violations. 

I. Exterior Accessibility Violations at Clover Properties 

a. Parking-Related Violations 

82. The Clover Properties consistently have inadequate numbers of accessible parking 

spaces to serve the needs of their residents and visitors, in violation of the FHA’s accessibility 

requirements. An accessible parking space must be marked by a sign, be at least 8 feet wide, and 

have an adjacent striped access aisle and curb cut that permits persons using wheelchairs, 

walkers, or canes to exit their vehicles and reach the sidewalk without having to negotiate a step. 

There must be at least one accessible parking space for residents at each site amenity and at least 

2% of parking spaces serving units must be accessible. In addition, there must be sufficient 

accessible visitor parking spaces dispersed throughout the site to provide access to grade level 
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entrances and a minimum of one accessible space at the rental office. The Clover Properties 

consistently fall short of these requirements. 

83. Due to the lack of accessible parking spaces at the Clover Properties, residents 

using mobility assistance devices such as wheelchairs and walkers or visitors who pick them up 

and drop them off frequently cannot find parking that will accommodate them. The photographs 

below illustrate the absence of accessible parking spaces around access points to Clover 

Properties, the absence of striped access aisles to prevent cars from blocking access to curb cuts, 

and the absence of curb cuts. 

84. Clover Properties also do not provide car blocks across their parking lots. As a 

result, cars parked in parking spaces often protrude over the sidewalks, blocking otherwise 

accessible routes. 

 

Figure A. Parking area without accessible parking or curb cuts at Parma Village Senior 

Apartments, Parma, Ohio. 
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Figure B. Parking area without accessible parking or curb cuts, online photo from 

apartments.com of Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments, Camillus, New York.  

  

 Figure C. Car blocking curb cut with no access aisle at Pleasant Run Senior Apartments, 

Indianapolis, Indiana. 
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 Figure D. Striped access area without curb cut at Pleasant Run Senior Apartments, 

Indianapolis, Indiana.  

b. Inaccessible Routes to Common Areas 

85. Clover Properties also lack accessible routes to amenities in the public and 

common use areas as required by the FHA. Such routes must be at least 36” wide and made of a 

stable, firm, non-slip material. The routes may not have running slopes greater than 5% without a 

handrail or cross slopes that exceed 2%.  

86. The routes to common areas at Clover Properties contain slopes that are greater 

than 5% and fail to connect sidewalks to parking, crosswalks, and amenities. As an example of 

an inaccessible route to a common use area amenity, at Southpark Square Senior Apartments 

(“Southpark Square”) in Strongsville, Ohio, routes to the picnic, trash, and pet service areas do 

not meet the FHA’s requirements. One Plaintiff also observed inaccessible routes to community 

rooms such as the outdoor patio adjacent to Southpark Square’s Community Room, which is 

reached by four sliding glass patio doors. None of the doors provide an accessible route to the 
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patio because the threshold is too high. As a result, residents with mobility disabilities seeking to 

use the patio must use longer, circuitous routes with steps or steep ramps. 

      

 Figure E. The slopes on either side of the curb cut exceed 5% and interrupt the accessible 

route at Pleasant Run Senior Apartments, Indianapolis, Indiana.  

c. Inaccessible Mailboxes 

87. Plaintiffs discovered that Clover Properties lack accessible mailboxes. Mailboxes 

with operable parts higher than 48 inches above the floor do not comply with the FHA’s 

accessibility requirements. The clustered mailboxes located in the common area of the Clover 

Properties include upper rows that are more than 48 inches from the floor level, as exemplified in 

the photograph below from the Lorain Pointe Senior Apartments (“Lorain Pointe”) in Lorain, 

Ohio. The inaccessible location of the mailboxes is a consistent feature across the Clover 

Properties.  
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 Figure F. Mailboxes at Lorain Pointe in Lorain, Ohio. 

II.      Interior Accessibility Violations at Clover Properties 

a. Inaccessible Route to Patio 

88. The units at Clover Properties have inaccessible routes to and from the patios. The 

Clover Properties’ patios have sliding doors with a raised threshold that is far in excess of three-

quarters of an inch and has a beveled slope greater than 1:2. The drop from the top of the patio 

door threshold to the pervious deck far exceeds ½ inch, which is the maximum allowable level 

change between the interior floor and the pervious deck. In addition, the sliding glass patio doors 

in Clover Properties have a clear opening space less than 31¾ inches, the required minimum 

clear opening for door entrances. These inaccessible features prevent people with disabilities 

from utilizing the patio or at a minimum present a hazard to people with mobility disabilities 

attempting to pass through the door.  
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Figure G. A threshold between an apartment and a patio that exceeds ¾ inch at Camillus 

Pointe Senior Apartments in Camillus, New York. 

b. Inaccessible Bathrooms 

89. Plaintiffs found that the units at Clover Properties have a bathroom design that is 

not accessible. There is not a clear floor space of 30” x 48” parallel to and centered on the 

bathroom sink, meaning that a person in a wheelchair cannot pull up parallel to the sink and 

reach the faucets. In addition, the cabinetry below the sink is not removable and, on information 

and belief, the area below the sink is not finished and lacks pipe protection for a safe forward 

approach to the sink for persons using a wheelchair.  

90. There is not a clear floor space of 30” x 48” parallel to the shower and flush with 

the control wall. A sink or toilet or wall encroaches on the floor space, preventing a wheelchair 

user from pulling up beside the shower.  
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Figure H. Online photograph of bathroom in Lorain Pointe which lacks clear floor space 

parallel to the shower and flush with the control wall because of the sink and the wall between 

the shower and washer/dryer, accessed January 17, 2022 at https://www.apartments.com/lorain-

pointe-senior-apartments-lorain-oh/zm5c4bw/.  

91. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs also understand that the walls in the 

bathroom are not reinforced to allow the installation of grab bars if a person with a disability 

were to require them. 

92. The bathrooms across all Clover Properties contain the same or similar violations, 

regardless of unit size.     
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 Figure I. Online photograph of a bathroom in Buckley Square Senior Apartments, in 

Syracuse, New York, with the same layout as Lorain Pointe, accessed March 17, 2022, at 

https://www.apartments.com/buckley-square-senior-apartments-north-syracuse-ny/n48mqhm/. 

93. The various violations alleged here constitute continuing violations of the FHA 

and parallel state laws that continue to the present. All Clover Properties have the same or 

similar violations and the designers, developers, builders, and operators of these properties are 

the same or related entities, consisting of one or more Defendants. In addition to the Clover 

Properties named here, Defendants own or operate or have designed or constructed thousands of 

multi-family rental units targeted at seniors with similar inaccessible design features across Ohio, 

New York, Pennsylvania, Indiana, Kentucky, and Missouri. 

94. Defendants’ actions as described herein were, and remain, intentional, willful, and 

knowing, and/or have been, and are, implemented with callous and reckless disregard for 

Plaintiffs’ legal rights. 

Case 5:22-cv-00278-GTS-ATB   Document 1   Filed 03/22/22   Page 24 of 38



 

   
 

25 
 

INJURY TO PLAINTIFFS 

95.      As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of Defendants’ actions as 

described herein, the Plaintiffs have suffered, continue to suffer, and will in the future suffer 

substantial, particularized, and concrete injuries.  

96. Defendants’ conduct frustrated the Plaintiffs’ missions by interfering with their 

mission-related activities, impairing their ability to achieve their goals of ensuring equal access 

to housing opportunities, and harming the communities they serve. Plaintiffs have been frustrated 

in their missions to eradicate discrimination in housing and to carry out the programs and 

services they provide, including encouraging integrated living patterns for people with 

disabilities, educating the public about fair housing rights and requirements, educating and 

working with industry groups on fair housing compliance, providing assistance to individuals 

and families looking for housing or affected by discriminatory housing practices, and eliminating 

discriminatory housing practices.  

97. Defendants’ unlawful conduct, policies, and practices have forced Plaintiffs to 

divert their resources to engage in numerous activities, as detailed below, to identify and 

counteract Defendants’ discriminatory conduct.  

98. Defendants’ unlawful conduct, policies, and practices have interfered with 

Plaintiffs’ ability to operate.  

Fair Housing Center for Rights & Research  

99. The Fair Housing Center for Rights & Research began its investigation of Clover 

Properties in 2019 after identifying accessible design and construction concerns during review of 

Clover Properties in the area and around the country and expanded the scope of its investigation 

after being informed of additional concerns regarding other forms of disability discrimination. 
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FHCRR’s investigation included on-site visits to examine the physical premises to evaluate 

accessibility issues, collecting and reviewing building plans, occupancy permits, ownership data 

and other related information, and identifying accessibility violations. The properties that 

FHCRR investigated are:   

a. Lorain Pointe Senior Apartments 

b. Olmsted Falls Senior Apartments 

c. Parma Village Senior Apartments 

d. Sheldon Square Senior Apartments 

e. Southpark Square Senior Apartments  

100. FHCRR has diverted its scarce time and resources to address Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct, and as a result it has had to divert resources from other work such as 

filming fair housing videos, pursuing other identified fair housing concerns, launching an agency 

Marketing Committee, and researching and applying for private foundation grants to diversify 

agency funding. 

101. FHCRR has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in the future 

resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by educating consumers with 

disabilities and seniors who may become persons with disabilities about their rights under the 

FHA to be free from discrimination and to live in and enjoy accessible housing. FHCRR has 

provided disability discrimination-related training to housing providers, publicized information 

about accessibility, and expanded content in its training materials on the Fair Housing Act’s 

Accessibility Guidelines. In addition, FHCRR 1) has developed a live virtual fair housing 

training for housing consumers, 2) coordinated and promoted a Fair Housing Accessibility First 

training for builders, developers, architects and others working in the multi-family housing 
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industry and local building officials in Northeast Ohio for the purpose of ensuring area builders 

and developers understand their obligations for accessible design and construction of newly-built 

multi-family housing, 3) is developing and disseminating to senior-serving organizations a fact 

sheet on required accessibility features in new multi-family housing, 4) is developing and will 

disseminate a blog post on this topic and will promote on its website and social media an 

educational video to accompany the release of its fact sheet on this topic.    

102. FHCRR’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ conduct, its diversion of 

resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue until Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions are remedied. 

HOME of Cincinnati 

103. HOME of Cincinnati began its investigation of Clover Properties in 2019 after 

being informed of possible disability discrimination.  Its investigation included conducting 

testing for discriminatory practices, contacting and visiting local government offices to view and 

copy certificates of occupancy and plans, and evaluating accessibility issues. The properties that 

HOME of Cincinnati investigated are: 

a. Eden Park Senior Apartments 

b. Fairfield Village Senior Apartments  

c. Ivy Pointe Senior Apartments 

104. HOME of Cincinnati has diverted its scarce time and resources to address 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, and as a result it has had to divert resources from other 

work, such as investigating and providing education on other forms of discrimination like 

discrimination based on race and national origin. HOME of Cincinnati’s Research Advocate 

had to divert her time away from promoting integrated communities, including a project to 
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increase Black homeownership. Additionally, a Testing Coordinator had to be pulled from other 

investigations.  

105. HOME of Cincinnati has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in the 

future resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by educating local 

housing consumers and housing providers about accessibility, and preparing for and conducting 

an April 2021 Fair Housing Summit that focused on housing accessibility. HOME of 

Cincinnati’s staff held a special Enforcement Meeting to develop an action plan to counter 

Defendants’ discriminatory actions. It is creating a video entitled Fair Housing Design & 

Construction Accessibility Requirements to be shared on its website and all social media 

platforms such as Facebook and Twitter. The Education Coordinator will be reaching out to the 

social workers at senior buildings to train them regarding the accessibility requirements. She will 

also design a new training that solely focuses on accessibility requirements. HOME of Cincinnati 

is also putting together a special training for local builders and architects in its area to train them 

on Fair Housing Design and Construction Accessibility Requirements. 

106. HOME of Cincinnati’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ conduct, 

its diversion of resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue until 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions are 

remedied. 

Fair Housing Opportunities of Northwest Ohio, d/b/a The Fair Housing Center 

107. The Fair Housing Center began its investigation of Clover Properties in 2021 

when it received a complaint from a resident who has a disability and who resides at Kings 

Pointe Senior Apartments in Sylvania, Ohio. Her complaint addressed a lack of accessible 

parking at Kings Pointe and the failure of the property to provide a designated parking space.  
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The Fair Housing Center’s investigation included on-site visits to evaluate accessibility issues 

and inspecting publicly available building plans and occupancy permits. The properties that The 

Fair Housing Center investigated are:  

a. Kings Pointe Senior Apartments    

b. Simmons Crossing Senior Apartments  

108. The Fair Housing Center has diverted its scarce time and resources to address 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, and as a result it has had to divert resources from other 

work, such as assisting other individuals experiencing housing discrimination in the area that The 

Fair Housing Center serves.   

109. The Fair Housing Center has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in 

the future resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by providing 

information and resources to the community about how the Fair Housing Act protects persons 

with disabilities and advocating for more accessible housing in The Fair Housing Center’s 

service area.  

110. The Fair Housing Center’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ 

conduct, its diversion of resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue 

until Defendants’ discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions 

are remedied.  

CNY Fair Housing, Inc.      

111. Plaintiff CNY Fair Housing, Inc. began its investigation of Clover Properties in 

2019 when it was contacted by residents at Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments in Camillus, New 

York. The residents reported inadequate accessible parking spaces near entrances to the building 

with a lack of curb cuts, a lack of parking spaces that could be reserved for residents with 
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disabilities, inaccessible patio doorways, inaccessible bathroom layouts, and other problems for 

persons with disabilities living in the property. CNY Fair Housing representatives have 

interviewed numerous residents, requested increased numbers of accessible and designated 

parking spaces, located and reviewed plans and occupancy permits, and in conducting on-site 

investigations, have identified accessibility violations at each property.  The properties that CNY 

Fair Housing investigated are:  

a. Buckley Square Senior Apartments 

b. Camillus Pointe Senior Apartments 

c. Carlton Hollow Senior Apartments 

d. Morgan Square Senior Apartments  

e. New Hartford Square Senior Apartments 

f. Reynolds Pointe Senior Apartments 

112. CNY Fair Housing has diverted its scarce time and resources to address 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, and as a result it has had to divert resources from other 

work, such as an investigation of residency preferences in housing assistance programs, an 

investigation of race discrimination in real estate sales, and a research project on zoning 

regulations and segregation. 

113. CNY Fair Housing has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in the 

future resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by spending staff time 

investigating the subject properties, conducting education and outreach in the community on 

accessibility requirements under the Fair Housing Act, and conducting continued monitoring of 

the subject properties to ensure accessibility issues are addressed. Specifically, CNY Fair 

Housing spent staff time conducting on-site investigations of the subject properties, interviewing 
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tenants about accessibility issues, and securing and reviewing planning documents, including 

architectural drawings and site plans. CNY Fair Housing has conducted training sessions and 

hosted information tables for seniors and service providers working with seniors on accessibility 

requirements under the Fair Housing Act and has provided training for local planning officials on 

design and construction requirements. CNY Fair Housing will conduct future workshops and 

information sessions to area residents to educate them on accessibility requirements, will develop 

new outreach materials and a video on design and construction requirements, and will conduct 

trainings for code enforcement officials on accessibility requirements for new construction. CNY 

Fair Housing will also continue to monitor current and future Clover properties through testing 

and outreach to tenants to ensure that the disability-related needs of tenants are addressed.  

114. CNY Fair Housing’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ conduct, its 

diversion of resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue until 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions are 

remedied. 

HOME of Buffalo 

115. Plaintiff HOME of Buffalo began its investigation of Clover Properties in 2019 

after being informed of possible disability discrimination. The investigation included conducting 

tests at properties in the Buffalo, New York area and collecting copies of plans and certificates of 

occupancy for the properties. The Clover Properties investigated by HOME of Buffalo’s and/or 

are located in the organization’s service area are:  

a. Brighton Square Senior Apartments 

b. Crestmount Square Senior Apartments 

c. Jill Joseph Tower Senior Apartments 
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d. Lancaster Commons Senior Apartments 

e. Orchard Place Senior Apartments 

f. Sandra Lane Senior Apartments  

g. Seneca Pointe Senior Apartments  

h. South Pointe Senior Apartments   

i. Sweet Home Senior Apartments 

j. Transit Pointe Senior Apartments  

k. Union Square Senior Apartments  

116. Plaintiff HOME of Buffalo has diverted its scarce time and resources to address 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct. When HOME of Buffalo uncovers evidence of 

discrimination, it is compelled to divert scarce resources to address the discriminatory activity 

through public education and outreach, advocacy, training and consulting, counseling and referral 

services, and enforcement actions. Due to the necessity to not only remedy past discrimination, 

but to take action to prevent similar discrimination from occurring in the future, HOME of 

Buffalo engaged in public outreach and education to counteract harms, specifically directed at 

communities likely to have been affected by the discriminatory conduct. As a result, it has had to 

divert resources from other work such as counseling, referral services, education, and the 

promotion of equal access to housing in Western New York.  

117. Plaintiff HOME of Buffalo has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in 

the future resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by devoting 

considerable staff time and resources to identifying the nature and scope of Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct and taking actions to mitigate its discriminatory impact. Prior to filing 

this action, HOME of Buffalo devoted staff time, engaged in community outreach, and 
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conducted a public education campaign to raise awareness among tenants, housing providers, 

and policymakers. These counteraction activities differ and are in addition to HOME of 

Buffalo’s regular, day-to-day activities and were undertaken as a direct response to the 

Defendants’ discriminatory practices. Each activity was contemporaneously documented in a 

central timekeeping system.  

118. Plaintiff HOME of Buffalo’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ 

conduct, its diversion of resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue 

until Defendants’ discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions 

are remedied. 

Fair Housing Partnership of Greater Pittsburgh  

119. The Fair Housing Partnership began its investigation of Clover Properties after 

being informed of possible disability discrimination in 2018. Its investigation included 

evaluating the properties with site visits as well as with municipal documentation reviews at 

Clover Properties in western and northeastern Pennsylvania. The Fair Housing Partnership 

expended significant resources investigating Defendants’ conduct and counteracting Defendants’ 

noncompliance with design and construction requirements. Specifically, the Fair Housing 

Partnership spent staff time conducting on-site investigations of the subject properties as well as 

securing and reviewing planning documents, including architectural drawings and site plans. 

FHP’s staff have traveled far geographical distances in western Pennsylvania from its Pittsburgh, 

PA office to the property sites and to the municipal buildings that house the properties’ building 

and site plans as well as the certificates of occupancy. The Clover Properties in FHP’s service 

area and/or investigated by the organization are: 

 

Case 5:22-cv-00278-GTS-ATB   Document 1   Filed 03/22/22   Page 33 of 38



 

   
 

34 
 

a. Beaver Run Senior Apartments 

b. Bethel Square Senior Apartments 

c. Cedar Ridge Senior Apartments  

d. Green Ridge Senior Apartments  

e. Harbor Creek Senior Apartments  

f. Lafayette Square Senior Apartments 

g. Oak Hill Senior Apartments  

h. Towne Square Senior Apartments 

120. The Fair Housing Partnership’s diversion of time and other resources to address 

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct has forced it to divert its scarce resources from other work 

such as preparing required reports for HUD (its funding agency), investigating claims of 

unlawful discrimination by other victims of discrimination, and conducting fair housing 

education and outreach on other types of cases.  

121. The Fair Housing Partnership has expended, continues to expend, and will expend 

in the future resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by conducting 

outreach to groups and agencies that serve people with disabilities and to seniors about design 

and construction compliance, educating municipal officials about design and construction 

compliance, developing and distributing a fact sheet on design and construction compliance, as 

well as conducting a print and digital marketing campaign on design and construction 

compliance. The Fair Housing Partnership will also continue to monitor the ongoing 

development of new construction Clover properties.  

122. The Fair Housing Partnership’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ 

conduct, its diversion of resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue 
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until Defendants’ discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions 

are remedied.  

Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana  

123. Plaintiff FHCCI began its investigation of Clover Properties in June of 2021, after 

being informed of possible disability discrimination. The investigation included on-site visits to 

examine the physical premises and evaluate accessibility issues, collecting and reviewing 

building plans and ownership data, analysis of discriminatory practices, and identifying 

accessibility violations.  The properties that FHCCI investigated are:   

a. Gardens on Gateway Senior Apartments  

b. Pleasant Run Senior Apartments 

c. Wynbrooke Senior Apartments  

124. FHCCI has diverted its scarce time and resources to address Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct, and as a result it has had to divert resources from other work, such as 

investigations into accessibility and new design and construction violations; education programs 

to advance knowledge of fair housing laws; preparing reports on fair housing issues; and public 

policy changes to expand fair housing protections. 

125. FHCCI has expended, continues to expend, and will expend in the future 

resources to counteract the effects of Defendants’ discrimination by distribution of a fair housing 

accessibility design and construction video, distribution of disability topical fact sheets and 

information; fair housing disability focused trainings; and disability focused PSA campaigns.  

126. FHCCI ’s investigation and counteraction of Defendants’ conduct, its diversion of 

resources, and the frustration of its mission continues and will continue until Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct ceases and the harms caused by Defendants’ actions are remedied. 
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CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I: Violation of the Fair Housing Act of 1968, as amended 
42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq.  
(Against All Defendants) 

 
127. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations set forth in the 

paragraphs above.  

128. Through the actions and inactions described above, Defendants, together and 

separately, have:  

a. discriminated in the rental of, or otherwise made unavailable or denied, 

dwellings to persons because of their disabilities in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1); 

b. discriminated against persons because of their disabilities in the terms, 

conditions, or privileges of rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or 

facilities in connection with the rental of a dwelling, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3604(f)(2); and 

c. failed to design and construct dwellings in compliance with the 

requirements mandated by 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C) and the applicable regulation, 24 

C.F.R. § 100.205 (2008). 

129. Defendants have deliberately, intentionally, and willfully disregarded their 

obligations under the FHA, with callous and reckless disregard for Plaintiffs’ legal rights.  

130. The frequency and similarity of violations at public and common use areas and in 

individual units identified in the investigation by Plaintiffs at thirty-eight Clover Properties 

demonstrate that Defendants have engaged in a pervasive and on-going pattern of designing and 

constructing dwelling units in violation of the FHA’s accessibility requirements. 
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131. As a result of Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered

damages and are aggrieved persons, as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i). 

Count II: Violation of New York Human Rights Law 
N.Y. Exec. Law § 296, et seq.  

(Against Defendants that own, operate, designed, or constructed Properties in New York) 

132. Defendants’ conduct as described herein constitutes:

a. Discrimination in the rental of, or otherwise making unavailable or denying

housing accommodations to persons because of their disabilities in violation of

N.Y. Exec. Law § 296-5(a)(1);

b. Discrimination in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the rental of dwellings, or

in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of

disability in violation of N.Y. Exec. Law § 296-5(a)(2);

c. Failure to design and construct dwellings in compliance with the requirements

mandated by of N.Y. Exec. Law § 296-18(3)

133. As a result of Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered

damages and are aggrieved persons, as defined in N.Y. Exec. Law § 297-9. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

134. WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs pray that this Court grant

judgment in its favor, and against Defendants, as follows: 

a. Declaring that Defendants’ actions violate the Federal Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §

3601, et seq., and N.Y. Exec. Law § 296;

b. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in the conduct described herein and

directing Defendants to take all affirmative steps necessary to remedy the effects of
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the conduct described herein and to prevent additional instances of such conduct or 

similar conduct from occurring in the future; 

c. Awarding compensatory damages to each Plaintiff in an amount to be determined by

a jury that would fully compensate each Plaintiff for the injuries caused by the

conduct of Defendants alleged herein;

d. Awarding punitive damages in an amount to be determined by a jury that would

punish Defendants for the willful, wanton, and reckless conduct alleged herein and

that would effectively deter similar conduct in the future;

e. Awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

f. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

135. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all issues

triable as of right. 

Dated: March 22, 2022 

/s/ Conor Kirchner 
Conor Kirchner (Bar Roll #518898) 
Casey Weissman-Vermeulen (Bar Roll #702110) 
CNY Fair Housing, Inc. 
731 James Street, Suite 200 
Syracuse, NY 13203 
(315) 471-0420
cjkirchn@cnyfairhousing.org
cweissman-vermeulen@cnyfairhousing.org

Reed N. Colfax* 
Sara K. Pratt* 
Soohyun Choi**  
RELMAN COLFAX PLLC 
1225 19th Street, N.W., Suite 600 
Washington, D.C. 20036 
(202) 728-1888
(202) 728-0848 (facsimile)
rcolfax@relmanlaw.com
spratt@relmanlaw.com

* Pro Hac Vice Application to be
Submitted
**Application for membership in
NDNY pending
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